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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRIC |
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT F TE ?f 21 2008 |

LUBBOCK DIVISION [ i
1 LRL\, LS, S TRICT ( ZL
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, : .n Deputy i
Plaintiff, :
5=09CV0087~C
: Civil Action No.
BENNY L. JUDAH and :
EXCEL LEASE FUND, INC.
Defendants.
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) alleges as follows against
Defendant Benny L. Judah (“Judah™) and Defendant Excel Lease Fund, Inc.(“Excel”)
(collectively, “Defendants™), and would respectfully show the Court as follows:

SUMMARY
1. From January 2006 through at least March 2009, the Defendants engaged in a fraudulent
offering of debenture securities issued by Excel. In offering materials, the Defendants
represented that Excel sought to raise $50 million to fund Excel’s equipment-leasing business, to
fund Excel’s “investments,” and to retire debentures that Excel had issued earlier. In practice,
however, Judah used offering proceeds in a manner grossly inconsistent with those
representations. He lost at least $5 million of the offering proceeds “day-trading™ securities for
Excel’s account. He also used investment proceeds to provide related-party loans to himself and
to other businesses he controlled. In addition, the Defendants represented to investors, since

January 2006, that Excel was operating profitably, when in fact it was not. Finally, the






Defendants grossly overstated the value of Excel’s assets, claiming approximately $15 million in
fictitious leases.
2. By this conduct, Defendants have offered and sold securities in violation of the anti-fraud
provisions of the federal securities laws, specifically Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
(“Securities Act™) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act™) [15 U.S.C. § 78](b)] and of Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder.
3. The Commission, in the interest of protecting the public from further such fraudulent
activities and harm, brings this action seeking to permanently enjoin the Defendants from further
violations of the federal securities laws. The Commission further secks orders requiring the
Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten gains, plus prejudgment interest thereon, and to pay civil
monetary penalties as allowed by law,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4, The investments offered and sold by the Defendants are “securities” under Section 2(1}
of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77b] and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78c].
5. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by Section
20(b) of the Securities Aét [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)], and Sections 21(d), 21{(e), and 27 of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78(aa}].
6. Defendants, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation
and communication, and the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails,
in connection with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein.
Certain of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein took place in

the Northern District of Texas.
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DEFENDANTS

7. Judah, 50 years old, is a resident ot;Lubbock, Texas, and the president and sole owner of
Excel. Judah is not registered with the Commission in any capacity. Judah is a recidivist
securities-law violator, this Court having imposed an injunction against him in 2001 for
violations of the securities-registration and anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws,
specifically Sections 5(a), 5(¢), and17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§77e(a), 77¢(c), and
77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and of Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5] thereunder. SEC v. Benny L. Judah and Excel Lease Fund, Inc., Civil Action No.
5:01-CV-045 (N.D. Tex., January 2001). In that case, the Court ordered Judah to pay a $50,000
civil penalty.
8. Excel is a Texas corporation headquartered in Lubbock, Texas. It is the issuer of the
debentures. Excel has never registered any securities offerillgs with the Commission. As of
April 20, 2009, Excel had debentures issued and outstanding with a face value of approximately
$40 million held by approximately 240 investors, primarily located in the Lubbock area. Excel
is likewise a recidivist securities-law violator, this Court having imposed an injunction against it
in 2001 for violations of the securities-registration and anti-fraud provisions of the federal
securities laws, specifically Sections 5(a), 5(c), and17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.8.C.
§§77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and of
Rule 10b-3 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder. SEC v. Benny L. Judah and Excel Lease Fund,
Inc., Civil Action No. 5:01-CV-045 (N.D. Tex., January 2001).

THE DEFENDANTS’ INVESTMENT SCHEME
9. In January 2006, Excel, by and through its owner, Judah, initiated an unregistered

offering of 10%, five-year debentures. In an Excel offering circular that Judah provided to
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investors, the Defendants represented that Excel sought to raise up to $50 million in the offering.
In the same offering circular, the Defendants represented that the offering proceeds would be
limited to three purposes: (1) to retire certain debentures that investors had purchased from
Excel earlier; (2) to fund Excel’s equipment-leasing business; and (3) to fund Excel’s
“investments.” These representations were false and misleading. In reality, the Defendants did
not limit the proceeds to those three uses.

10. Since January 2006 and through at least March 2009, Judah misappropriated a least $5
million of the offering proceeds, placing these funds in an Excel securities brokerage account.
There, he engaged in a so-called “day-trading” investment strategy whereby he lost all of the
investor funds that he had misappropriated. Defendants did not disclose to investors or potential
investors that offering proceeds would be used in this manner.

11. Judah also used millions of dollars of investor funds to provide undisclosed, related-party
loans to himself and to other businesses he controlled, certain of which are now insolvent.
During the offering, Excel had approximately $20 million in such related-party loans
outstanding. The Defendants omitted to disclose these related-party transactions.

12.  To entice investors to purchase the debentures, the bffering circular contained a glowing
description of Excel’s business. It stated that the company “historically averaged a 19.8% annual
return on its portfolio of leases and other investments.” It further stated that the company “is
able to profitably operate on the margin difference between the average portfolio yield (19.8%)
and the cost of funding (10%).” In reality, however, Excel was not operating profitably during
the offering period.

13.  The Excel offering circular also contained false and misleading financial statements.

These financial statements reflected that, as of year-end 2004, Excel had loans outstanding to
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other Judah-controlled companies of approximately $967,000. In reality, as of year-end 2004,
Excel had loans of more than $3.5 million outstanding to Judah-related entities.
14.  Finally, the Defendants also grossly overstated the value of the of Excel’s assets during
the offering. According to the offering circular, Excel had a “portfolio in excess of $45 million
consisting of some 4500 leases and notes receivable.” In reality, leases valued at approximately
$15 million in the portfolio were fictitious.
FIRST CLAIM

Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
15.  Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 13 of this Complaint
by reference as if set forth verbatim.
16. The Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in the offer or sale
of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and by use of the
mails have: (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or
property by means of untrue statements of a material fact and omitted to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; and (¢) engaged in transactions, practices, and courses of business
which operate or would operate as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers.
17.  Asapart of and in furtherance of their scheme, the Defendants, directly and indirectly,
prepared, disseminated, or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional materials,
investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue statements of
material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to state material facts

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
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were made, not misleading, including, but not Jimited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 1 through
13, above.
18.  With respect to violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act, the
Defendants were negligent in their actions regarding the representations and omissions alleged
herein. With respect to violations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, the Defendants made
the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions knowingly or with severe recklessness
regarding the truth,
19. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, will
continue to violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].
SECOND CLAIM

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
20.  Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 13 of this Complaint
by reference as if set forth verbatim.
21.  The Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in connection with
the purchase or sale of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate
commerce and by use of the mails have: (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to
defraud; (b) made untrue statements of a material fact and omitted to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which
operate or would operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers, and any
other persons.
22. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, the Defendants, directly and indirectly,

prepared, disseminated, or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional materials,
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investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue statements of
material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, including, but not limited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 1 through
13 above.

23. The Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions knowingly
or with severe recklessness regarding the truth.

24. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to
violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:
L
Permanently enjoin Defendants from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
| I,
Order the Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the funds and benefits obtained
illegally as a result of the violations alleged, plus prejudgment interest on that amount.
I11.
Order the Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties in an amount determined as
appropriate by the Court pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and
Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] for the violations alleged herein.

Iv.
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Order such further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
Dated this 21% Day of April 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

TIMOTHY'S. McCOLE

Mississippi Bar No. 10628

United States Securities and
Exchange Commission

Fort Worth Regional Office

801 Cherry Street, Suite 1900

Fort Worth, Texas 76102

(817) 978-6453

(817) 978-2700 (facsimile)

meccolet@sec.gov
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